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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 20436 

1 
In the Matter of 

CERTAIN VINYL-COVERED FOAM 
BLQCKS 

Investigation No. 337-TA-178 

1 

COMMISSION ACTION AND ORDER 

Procedural History 

on November 2 3 ,  1983, The Dolly Toy co. of Tipp City, Ohio, filed a 

complaint under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 8 1337) 

alleging unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the importation and 

sale of certain vinyl-covered foam blocks which allegedly infringe U.S. 

Letters Patent 3,518,786, the effect or tendency of which is to destroy or 

substantially injure an efficiently and economically operated industry in the 

United States. 

Kong and Talbot Toys, Inc., of New York City. 

investigation was published in the Federal Register on December 29, 1983 (48 

F.R. 57384). 

I 

The complaint named as respondents Candid Industries of Hong 

Notice of institution of the 

On July 9 ,  1983, the presiding administrative law judge (ALJ) issued an 

initial determination (Order No. 4) granting a joint motion by complainant. 

The DQlly Toy Cos and the Commission investigative attorney moved for 

termination of respondent Talbot Toys, Inc., on the basis of consent order. 

The Commission subsequently decided not to review the initial determination, 

and it became the Commission determination on August 8, 1984. 
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on June 29, 1984, complainant The Dolly Toy Co. filed a motion for 

summary determination of violation of section 337. (Motion No. 178-6). The 

motion was supported by the 

opposed by any respondent. 

Commission investigative attorney and was not 

on July 26, 1984, the ALJ issued Order No. 5, an initial determination 

granting summary determination and finding that there have been violations of 

section 337 due to the importation and sale o f  vinyl-covered foam blocks which 

infringe claims 1 or 2 of U.S. Letters Patent 3,518,786. 

The Commission issued a notice on August 24, 1984 (49 F.R. 34424), 

declining to review the initial determination o f  July 26, 1984, and requesting 

written submissions on questions of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. 

Action 

Having reviewed the submissions received on the questions of remedy, 

bonding, and public interest and the record compiled in this investigation, 

the Commission has determined that a general exclusion order should be issued 

against vinyl-covered foam blocks that infringe claims 1 or 2 of U.S. Letters 

Patent 3,518,786, that the public-interest factors enumerated in section 

337(d) do not preclude issuance o f  this remedy, and that a bond of 150 percent 

of the entered value of the articles concerned should be imposed during the 

Presidential review period. 
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Order 

A c c o r d i n g l y ,  i t  i s  hereby ORDERED THAT-- 

1. Vinyl-covered foam b l o c k s  that  i n f r i n g e  claims 1 or 2 o f  U.S. 
Letters P a t e n t  3,518,786 are exc luded from e n t r y  i n t o  t h e  
Uni ted  States  except under l i c e n s e  o f  the p a t e n t  owner for  t h e  
remaining term o f  t h e  p a t e n t .  

2 .  h e  a r t i c l e s  ordered t o  be  exc luded from e n t r y  i n t o  t h e  United 
States  s h a l l  b e  e n t i t l e d  t o  e n t r y  under bond i n  the amount o f  
150 p e r c e n t  o f  t h e  e n t e r e d  v a l u e  o f  t h e  s u b j e c t  a r t i c l e s  from 
t h e  day a f t e r  t h i s  order i s  r e c e i v e d  by the P r e s i d e n t  pursuant 
t o  s u b s e c t i o n  (8)  o f  s e c t i o n  337 o f  t h e  T a r i f f  Act o f  1 9 3 0 ,  and 
u n t i l  such time as t h e  P r e s i d e n t  n o t i f i e s  the Commission t h a t  
h e  approves or  d isapproves  t h i s  a c t i o n ,  b u t  i n  any  e v e n t ,  n o t  
later  t h a n  60 days after t h e  date o f  receipt  o f  t h i s  a c t i o n .  

3. The Commission may amend t h i s  order i n  accordance  w i t h  t h e  
procedure  described i n  s e c t i o n  211.57 o f  the Commission's Rules  
of Practice and Procedure  (19 CFR § 211 .57) .  

4. The Secretary s h a l l  s e r v e  Copies o f  t h i s  Commission Act ion  and 
Order and t h e  Commission Opinion i n  support  t h e r e o f  upon each 
p a r t y  o f  record t o  t h i s  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  and s h a l l  p u b l i s h  n o t i c e  
o f  t h i s  A c t i o n  and Order i n  the Federal R e g i s t e r .  

By order o f  t h e  Commission. 

Kenneth R. Mason 
Secretary 

Issued:  
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 20436 

~~~~ ~ ~ 

1 
In the Matter of 1 

CERTAIN VINYL-COVJRED FOAM 1 
BLOCKS 1 

1 

1 Investigation No. 337-TA-178 

COMMISSION OPINION ON REMEDY, THE PUBLIC INTEREST, AND BONDING 

I. Remedy 

A general exclusion order prohibiting the entry o f  any and all 

vinyl-covered foam blocks that infringe claims 1 or 2 of U.S. Letters Patent 

3,518,786 is the appropriate remedy in this investigation. The record 

I .  contains facts sufficient to meet the guidelines for the issuance of general 

exclusion orders established by the Commission in Certain Airless Paint Spray 

Pumps and Components Thereof. .L/ 
In Paint Spray Pumps, the Commission said that, to obtain a general 

exclusion order, a complainant must prove a widespread pattern of unauthorized 

use of its patented invention and certain business conditions which will 

support a reasonable inference that foreign manufacturers other than the 

respondents may attempt to enter the U.S. market with infringing articles. g/ 

The purpose of these requirements is "to balance the complainant's 

interest in obtaining complete protection from all potential foreign 

1/ Inv. No. 337-TA-90, USITC Pub. 1199 (1981); eee also Certain 
SeTf-Stripping Electrical Tap Connectors, Inv. No. 337-TA-150. 
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infringers through a single investigation with the inherent potential of a 

general exclusion order to disrupt legitimate trade." 3/ Where it appears 

that there may be numerous undiscovered infringers, it would be unduly 

burdensome to require complainant to seek a new section 337 investigation on 

the same patent as soon as new imported infringing articles are discovered. 

- 

Both of these requirements have been met in this investigation. Although 

only two respondents were named, the investigation showed that others who were 

not named as parties were making substantial importations and sales. &/ 
the time of filing its motion for summary determination, complainant has 

Since 

discovered another importer of a substantial number of blocks. 5-/ The sales 

on record in this investigation have been substantial and have been made to at 

least one nationwide chain 61  and to other smaller companies around the 
rr - 

country. L/ 
The record shows that there is an established demand for the 

vinyl-covered foam blocks. 8 1  - Complainant notes that importers and sellers of 

toys often have established channels which can readily be used for the 

distribution and marketing of foam blocks. - 9 1  

investment is required for the manufacture and distribution of foam blocks. 7 10/ 

Finally, only a small capital 

3/ The concern is that a general exclusion order may dampen interest in 
importing noninfringing goods by reason of uncertainty over the interpretation 
of the coverage of the patent by the U.S.  Customs Service. 

at'Eached to Complainant the Dolly Toy Company's Motion for Summary 
Determination [hereinafter Motion for Summary Determination] para. 18. 

4/ Initial Determination ("ID"), Order No. 5,  at 4; Sullivan Affidavit 

5/ Brief of Complainant the Dolly Toy Company on Remedy, Public Interest, 

6 /  Motion for Summary Determination, Exhibits 9 and Confidential affidavit. 
- ?/ E., Exhibit 10 and Exhibit 14; Affidavit of Dennis J. Sullivan. - 8 /  Complaint, Confidential Exhibit 1. 
9/ Complainants' Brief at 6; Motion for Summary determination, exhibits 5-10. 

Bonding [hereinafter Complainant's Brief] at 5 and Confidential Exhibit C. 

- 151 Affidavits of Dennis J. Sullivan and Confidential Affidavit. Briefs of 
Complainant and Commission Investigative Attorney on Remedy, Bonding, and the 
Public interest. 
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I n  a d d i t i o n ,  respondent  Candid I n d u s t r i e s  o f  Hong Kong i n  a l e t t e r  t o  t h e  

Commission has said i t  w i l l  c o n t i n u e  t o  s e l l  i t s  b l o c k s  t o  v a r i o u s  unnamed 

Hong Kong t r a d i n g  companies. 

Candid's  b locks  does n o t  i n d i c a t e  t h e  s o u r c e ,  t h e s e  b l o c k s  c o u l d  eas i ly  e n t e r  

t h e  United S t a t e s  by way o f  t r a d i n g  companies i f  e i t h e r  a l i m i t e d  e x c l u s i o n  

S i n c e  t h e  p h y s i c a l  e x h i b i t  o f  respondent  

o r d e r  p r o h i b i t i n g  e n t r y  o f  o n l y  Candid's b l o c k s  o r  a cease and d e s i s t  o r d e r  

directed t o  Candid were i s s u e d .  Moreover,  t h e r e  are o t h e r  Hong Kong 

manufac turers  o f  i n f r i n g i n g  b l o c k s  n o t  known t o  complainant  t h a t  could  

c o n t i n u e  t o  e x p o r t  i n f r i n g i n g  b l o c k s  t o  t h e  United S t a t e s  under a more l i m i t e d  

remedy, and t h e  Taiwanese s o u r c e  f o r  T a l b o t  Toys ,  t h e  U.S. respondent  

terminated  by a consent  order ,  could  eas i ly  s h i p  t h e  i n f r i n g i n g  b l o c k s  through 

o t h e r  importers .  

i n v e s t i g a t i o n  i s  a g e n e r a l  e x c l u s i o n  o r d e r ,  

Thus,  we conclude t h a t  t h e  appropriate  remedy i n  t h i s  

11. P u b l i c  I n t e r e s t  

We f i n d  that  t h e  i s s u a n c e  o f  a g e n e r a l  e x c l u s i o n  o r d e r  i n  t h i s  matter 

w i l l  have no a d v e r s e  affect  on t h e  p u b l i c  i n t e r e s t  factors enumerated i n  

s e c t i o n  337(d) .  

no n e g a t i v e  e f fec t  on t h e  p u b l i c  h e a l t h  and welfare. 

form o f  baby t o y ;  u n l i k e  m e d i c i n e s ,  f o r  example, they are n o t  e s s e n t i a l  t o  t h e  

p u b l i c  health o r  welfare. Moreover, t h e r e  are c o m p e t i t i v e ,  non- inf r inging  

b l o c k s  on the market. 

the p a t e n t e d  b l o c k s  o f  compla inant ,  U.S. consumers w i l l  n o t  b e  a d v e r s e l y  

affected by e x c l u s i o n  o f  those t h a t  i n f r i n g e  t h e  s u b j e c t  p a t e n t .  

E x c l u s i o n  o f  i n f r i n g i n g  v inyl -covered  foam b l o c k s  w i l l  have 

me b l o c k s  are o n l y  one 

Thus,  w i t h  t h e  a v a i l a b i l i t y  o f  a l t e r n a t i v e  b l o c k s  and 

111. Bonding 

The S e n a t e  F inance  Committee Report  on t h e  1974 amendments t o  s e c t i o n  337 

says t h a t  the bond i s  t o  b e  set  a t  a level  s u f f i c i e n t  t o  "offset any 
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competitive advantage 

unfair act enjoyed by 

possible in the past, 

between complainant's 

value of the imported 

resulting from the unfair method of competition or 

the persons benefiting from the importation." 121 

the Commission has based the bond on the difference 

selling price of the domestic product and the entered 

product. 

When - 

In this case the record established an average 

price for complainant's foam blocks of 56g! each. g/ 
that were the subject of this investigation were 206-25# f.0.b. Taiwan. - 141 

The Taiwanese blocks 

The average price paid for the imported infringing blocks is 2 2 . 5 5 .  On 

that basis we set the bond at 150 percent. 

- 121 S. Rep. No. 1298, 94d Cong., 2d Sess. 198 (1974). 
13/ Complaint, Confidential Exhibit 2. Complainants' Brief, Confidential 

141 Motion for Summary Determination, Confidential Exhibit B. We did not 
Egibit D. 

f G d  nor did the parties to the investigation cite information on the entered 
value prices of the foam blocks produced in Hong Kong and imported by Candid, 
hence we have used f.0.b. Taiwan prices. 



This is an initial determination issued b y  a Commission 

administrative law judge that the Commission determined not 

t o  review, The initial determination has, therefore, become 

the Commission determination in this investigation on the 

issue o f  violation o f  section 337. See section 210.53(h) o f  

the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 

- 

210.53(h)) and the notice published in the Federal Register 

o n  August 30, 1984 (49 Fed. Reg. 34,424). 



Respondent Candid L n d u s t r i e s ,  the only f o r e i g n  r e s p o n d e n t ,  f i led a l e t ter  

on January  25, 1984, s t a t i n g :  "I r e c e i v e d  the above-mentioned n o t i c e .  I deny 

t h e  a l l e g a t i o n s  i n  t h e  c o m p l a i n t . "  

On June 14 ,  1984, s a n c t i o n s  were imposed o n  Candid I n d u s t r i e s  f o r  f a i l u r e  

t o  comply w i t h  Order No. 2 c o m p e l l i n g  d i s c o v e r y .  (Order No. 3 ) .  The follow- 

i n g  facts  were deemed t o  have been e s t a b l i s h e d :  

a .  Candid I n d u s t r i e s  has manufactured i n  Elong Kong and has 

exported t o  t h e  United S t a t e s  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  

t h a t  i n f r i n g e  U.S. P a t e n t  No. 3,518,786. 

b. Candid I n d u s t r i e s  has o f f e r e d  for sale and s o l d  i n  the  

U n i t e d  States imported v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  t h a t  

i n f r i n g e  the '786 p a t e n t .  

c .  Candid I n d u s t r i e s  h a s  t h e  c a p a c i t y  t o  m a n u f a c t u r e  and t o  

expor t  t o  the  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  a s u f f i c i e n t  number  of 

i n f r i n g i n g  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  t o  meet t h e  c u r r e n t  

demand i n  t h e  U n i t e d  States market. 

d .  Candid I n d u s t r i e s  i n t e n d s  t o  c o n t i n u e  t o  export t o  the  

U n i t e d  S t a t e s  i n f r i n g i n g  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam blocks. 

e. Candid I n d u s t r i e s  i n t e n d s  t o  c o n t i n u e  o f f e r i n g  f o r  sale 

in t h e  United States imported i n f r i n g i n g  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  

foam b l o c k s .  

2 



f. Candid I n d u s t r i e s  has  s o l d  and o f f e r e d  f o r  sale i n  t h e  

United S t a t e s  imported i n f r i n g i n g  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam 

b l o c k s  a t  p r i c e s  lower than t h o s e  charged by D o l l y  Toy 

f o r  i t s  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  covered by t h e  '786 

p a t e n t .  

g o  Candid I n d u s t r i e s '  i m p o r t a t i o n  and sale o f  i n f r i n g i n g  

v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  have t h e  effect and t e n d e n c y  

t o  i n j u r e  s u b s t a n t i a l l y  t h e  domestic i n d u s t r y  engaged i n  

the manufacture  and sa le  o f  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  

made under the '786 p a t e n t .  

On June 20, 1984, Candid f i l e d  a letter  which was treated as a n  answer  t o  

t h e  c o m p l a i n t  and n o t i c e  o f  i n v e s t i g a t i o n .  Candid was a d v i s e d  t h a t  t h e  s a n c -  

t i o n s  i s s u e d  i n  Order No. 3 might b e  l i f t e d  on motion by Candid i f  Candid 

provided d i s c o v e r y  as o r d e r e d  i n  Order No. 2. No f u r t h e r  i n f o r m a t i o n  was 

submitted by Candid. 

I 

Although Candid I n d u s t r i e s  d e n i e d  i n f r i n g e m e n t  o f  t h e  '786 p a t e n t ,  i t  

o f f e r e d  no facts i n  support  o f  i t s  p o s i t i o n  on i n f r i n g e m e n t .  The le t ter  o f  

June 20 i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  Candid had 10 employees ,  and t h a t  i t  does m a n u f a c t u r e  

foam b l o c k s  f o r  b a b i e s .  L t  h a s  s topped exportling: the=bfoc&s - h e - U m t e c z -  

States,  b u t  will c o n t i n u e  to  s e l l  them e l s e w h e r e .  Candid states that it c a n n o t  

a f f o r d  t o  h i r e  a lawyer to  d e f e n d  t h i s  l a w s u i t .  It d i d  n o t  r e s p o n d  to D o l l y  

Toy's motion f o r  summary d e t e r m i n a t i o n .  Dolly Toy, through a f f i d a v i t s  and 

e x h i b i t s  accompanying t h i s  m o t i o n ,  h a s  p r e s e n t e d  facts showing v i o l a t i o n  of 

S e c t i o n  337. No opposing a f f i d a v i t s  have b e e n  f i l e d  showing t h a t  t h e r e  i s  a 

3 



genl;ine issue of material fact to be Litigated. Dolly Toy is enzitled to 

s ummary  determination. Dolly Toy's case is supported by certain admis- 

sions contained in Candid's letter filed on June 20 ,  1984, 

2 .  Jurisdiction' 

The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction in this case since the 

complaint alleges unfair acts in the importation and sale of certain foam 

blocks. Importation and sale of the blocks have been established. 

The Commission has - in personam jurisdiction over Candid Industries. 

The June 20 letter from Candid establishes that Candid has had minimum 

contacts with the United States in the past. Candid has received the notice 

of investigation, and it states that it immediately stopped offering and 

exporting blocks to the United States. No shipments have been made to the 

United States since about January, 1984. 

1 

3. Importation and sale 

In addition to the exportation of blocks by Candid Industries to the 

United States, Dolly Toy has filed affidavits establishing substantial 

importations and sales by others who are not named as parties to this investi- 

gation. 

The Hoffman affidavit establishes that Friendly Home Parties of Albany, 

Conf. 

1 and that the blocks were Conf. 

- N. Y., purchased [ 1 o f  vinyl-covered foam blocks from [ 

- 
manufactured in Hong Kong. 

4 



T h e  P i l a r z  a f f i d a v i t  s t a t e s  t h a t  J .  C .  Penney C o . ,  I n c ,  p u r c h a s e d  

from T a l b o t  Toys v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  manufactured i n  Taiwan. 

The S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t  s tates  t h a t  i n  1 9 8 1 ,  Stahlwood Toy U f g .  Co. 

was d i s t r i b u t i n g  i m p o r t e d  i n f r i n g i n g  b l o c k s  m a n u f a c t u r e d  i n  Hong K o n g .  

F i n a l l y ,  t h e  June 20 letter  f r o s  Candid e s t a b l i s h e s  t h a t  t h i s  respon-  

d e n t  has manufactured i n  Kong Kong and has e x p o r t e d  t o  t h e  U n i t e d  States 

v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  

4. P a t e n t  v a l i d i t y  

D o l l y  Toy i s  t h e  owner by assignment  of U. S. P a t e n t  No. 3 , 5 1 8 , 7 8 6 .  

( S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t ,  Exs. 2 and 3). Under S e c t i o n  2 8 2  o f  the P a t e n t  A c t ,  a I 

p a t e n t  i s  presumed v a l i d ,  35 U.S.C. 5282.  The burden of p r o v i n g  i n v a l i d i t y  

by clear and c o n v i n c i n g  e v i d e n c e  i s  on t h e  r e s p o n d e n t s .  American H o i s t  & 

Derrick C o .  V .  Sowa & S o n s ,  I n c . ,  725 F.Zd 1 3 5 0  ( F e d .  C i r .  1984). No 

e v i d e n c e  c o n t e s t i n g  t h e  v a l i d i t y  o r  e n f o r c e a b i l i t y  o f  t h e  '786 p a t e n t  has 

been s u b m i t t e d .  It i s  t h e r e f o r e  found t h a t  f o r  t h e  purposes  o f  t h i s  proceed-  

' i n g  t h e  ' 7 8 6  p a t e n t  i s  v a l i d  and e n f o r c e a b l e .  

5 .  I n f r i n g e m e n t  

The '786 p a t e n t  relates t o  a safe t o y  b l o c k  for c h i l d r e n .  The b l o c k  

i n c l u d e s  a f l e x i b l e  vinyl plastic o u t e r  r h e l l  around a c u b e  of foam which 

always r e t u r n s  t o  i t s  o r i g i n a l  shape.  



Claims 1 and 2 read a s  f o l l o w s :  

1 .  A c h i l d ' s  s a f e t y  toy  b l o c k  c o m p r i s i n g  a u n i t a r y  
c o r e  o f  r e s i l i e n t  foam, formed i n  a symmetrical g e o m e t r i c  
t h r e e - d i m e n s i o n a l  c o n f i g u r a t i o n  i n c l u d i n g  a t  l e a s t  two 
s u b s t a n t i a l l y  p l a n a r  s u r f a c e s  d e f i n i n g  r e s p e c t i v e l y  t h e  
t o p  and- bottom t h e r e o f ,  said foam having i n t e r c o n n e c t e d  
pores s o . t h a t  a i r  may move without  s u b s t a n t i a l  r e s t r i c t i o n  
from one p o r t i o n  o f  t h e  c o r e  t o  a n o t h e r  t h u s  p r o v i d i n g  
l i t t l e  resistance t o  deformation upon t h e  a p p l i c a t i o n  o f  a 
d i s t o r t i n g  f o r c e  t o  one o r  more o f  t h e  s u r f a c e s  thereof 
w h i l e  p r o v i d i n g  a c o n s t a n t  r e s t o r i n g  f o r c e  t e n d i n g  t o  
r e t u r n  t h e  b l o c k  f u l l y  t o  i t s  o r i g i n a l  c o n f i g u r a t i o n  upon 
t h e  removal o f  such d i s t o r t i n g  f o r c e ,  and side s u r f a c e s  
c o n n e c t i n g  said t o p  and bottom s u r f a c e s ,  and a s o f t ,  t h i n ,  
f lexible and p r i n t a b l e  heat s e a l a b l e  p las t i c  c o v e r i n g  
formed about  s a i d  c o r e  and closely conforming t o  the Shape 
o f  said c o r e  i n c l u d i n g  s u r f a c e s  Corresponding t o  said c o r e  
s u r f a c e s  i n  c l o s e l y  spaced b u t  n o n - a d h e s i v e  r e l a t i o n  
t h e r e t o ,  said p l a s t i c  c o v e r i n g  b e i n g  heat sealed w i t h o u t  
s u b s t a n t i a l  o v e r l a p  about  two perimeters of said core 
c o r r e s p o n d i n g  t o  the j u n c t i o n s  of t h e  sides t h e r e o f  w i t h  
i t s  t o p  s u r f a c e s  t h e r e o f  and i t s  bottom s u r f a c e  f u l l y  
e n c l o s i n g  s a i d  c o r e  t h e r e i n  said b l o c k  b e i n g  o f  a s i z e  
r e n d e r i n g  i t  c o n v e n i e n t l y  h o l d a b l e ,  m a n i p u l a b l e  and 
t h r o w a b l e  by a c h i l d  o f  t h e  s i z e  normal ly  a t t a i n e d  d u r i n g  
normal t e e t h i n g  years. 

2 .  T h e  b l o c k  o f  c la im 1 i n  w h i c h  s a i d  c o v e r i n g  
i s  formed i n  three pieces i n c l u d i n g  a t o p  piece, a bottom 
piece and a s i n g l e  side piece w i t h  s a i d  side piece j o i n i n g  
said t o p  and bottom pieces a t  said c o r e  perimeters and 
s a i d  s i d e  p iece  b e i n g  j o i n e d  t o  i t s e l f  a d j a c e n t  o n e  
v e r t i c a l  edge o f  said c o r e  e x t e n d i n g  between s a i d  p e r i - '  
meters. 

The Marcus a f f i d a v i t  (paragraphs 11-16) states that  a b l o c k  manufac- 

t u r e d  by Candid (Ex.  D) l i t e r a l l y  i n f r i n g e s  claims 1 and 2 of the  '786 

p a t e n t .  (See a lso  claim chart, E x .  E . )  S i n c e  t h e  i n n e r  c o n s t r u c t i o n  o f  

t h e  b l o c k  c a n n o t  b e  s e e n ,  the Marcus a f f i d a v i t  i s  n e c e s s a r y  t o  e s t a b l i s h  

i n f r i n g e m e n t  o f  e a c h  e lement  o f  claims 1 and 2. 

-- 
Another  b l o c k  made by Candid,  shown i n  E x .  F ,  was s u b m i t t e d  t o  t h e  

Commission as Complaint  Phys. E x .  2 .  D o l l y  Toy alleges t h a t  t h i s  b l o c k  
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i n f r i n g e s  claim 1 l i t e r a l l y ,  and i p f r i n g e s  c l a i m  2 under t h e  d o c t r i n e  o f  

e q u i v a l e n t s .  Phys.  Ex .  2 t o  t h e  complaint  was t h e . o n l y  b l o c k  o f  t h i s  t y p e  i n  

t h e  p o s s e s s i o n  o f  D o l l y  T o y ,  and it h a s  n o t  been seen by t h i s  off ice.  Even i f  

it had been seen, t h e  Marcus a f f i d a v i t  would b e  r e q u i r e d  t o  e s t a b l i s h  i n f r i n g e -  

ment o f  claim 1. It i s  found t h a t  E x h i b i t  D i n f r i n g e s  claims 1 and 2 of  t h e  

'786 p a t e n t ,  and t h a t  Phys. Ex. 2 t o  t h e  c o m p l a i n t  i n f r i n g e s  at least  claim 

1. 

6 .  Domestic  I n d u s t r y  

The S u l l i v a n  and Marcus d e p o s i t i o n s  e s t a b l i s h  t h a t  D o l l y  Toy m a n u f a c t u r e s  

i n  Tipp C i t y ,  O h i o ,  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  c o v e r e d  by t h e  claims o f  t h e  

'786 p a t e n t .  ( S e e  Ex. C ) .  I n  a d d i t i o n  t o  d o m e s t i c a l l y  m a n u f a c t u r i n g  v i n y l -  

c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s ,  D o l l y  Toy i n s p e c t s ,  p a c k a g e s  a n d  s tores  t h e  b l o c k s  

a t  i t s  T i p p  C i t y  f a c i l i t y .  ( S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t  paragraph 6). 

D o l l y  Toy u s e s  modern equipment i n  t h e  p r o d u c t i o n ,  management, manufac- 

t u r e  and i n v e n t o r y  c o n t r o l  o f  i t s  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  f o a m  b l o c k s .  A b o u t  185 

f u l l - t i m e  and 40 seasonal employees are employed , w i t h  12 employees a1 l o c a t e d  

t o  t h e  foam b l o c k  p o r t i o n  o f  D o l l y  Toy's  b u s i n e s s .  D o l l y  Toy h a s  been consist-  

e n t l y  p r o f i t a b l e  b o t h  i n  i t s  overall  o p e t a t i o n s  and t h o s e  d e d i c a t e d  t o  v i n y l -  

c o v e r e d  f o a m  b l o c k s .  ( M a r c u s  a f f i d a v i t  p a r a g r a p h  7 ,  S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t  

paragraph 6, Ex. 4 ) .  

I t  i s  f o u n d  t h a t  t h e r e  i s  an e f f i c i e n t l y  a n d  economically o p e r a t e d  

d o m e s t i c  i n d u s t r y  c o n s i s t i n g  o f  D o l l y  T o y ' s  o p e r a t i o n s  d e v o t e d  to t h e  manufac- 

t u r e  and sale o f  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  under  t h e  p a t e n t .  

\ 
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, i)o!iy Toy h a s  submit ted  e v i d e n c e  by a f f i d a v i t  e s t a b l i s h i n g  t h a t  s u b s t a n -  

t i a l  q u a n t i t i e s  o f  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  have been imported and s o l d  a t  

prices which undercut  those o f  D o l l y  Toy. ( S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t  paragraph 

2 0 ,  P i l a r z  a f f i d a v i t ,  Hoffman a f f i d a v i t ) .  

For example, t h e  J. C .  Penney Co. ,  which h a s  purchased v i n y l - c o v e r e d  

foam b l o c k s  from Dolly Toy,  purchased [ 1 of imported foam b l o c k s  - Conf, 

from T a l b o t  Toys i n  1 9 8 3 .  These  imported b l o c k s  were a d v e r t i s e d  i n  Penney ' s  

1983  Christmas catalog a t  a price o f  $5 .99  p e r  set o f  n i n e .  ( P i l a r 2  a f f i -  

d a v i t ,  Ex.  1 6 ) .  D o l l y  Toy ' s  r e t a i l  p r i c e  f o r  s imilar  b l o c k s  i s  a b o u t  $6.00 

par s e t  o f  s i x .  ( S u l l i v a n  a f f i d a v i t  p a r a g r a p h  2 0 ) .  In t h i s  i n s t a n c e ,  

i a o o r t c d  b l o c k s  were b e i n g  s o l d  a t  about  two- th i rds  the  price of  t h e  d o m e s t i c  

p a t e n t e d  b l o c k s ,  S i n c e  J .  C .  Penney h a s  been a cus tomer  o f  D o l l y  Toy i n  t h e  

- 

- 
I 

past ,  It may b e  i n f e r r e d  t h a t  D o l l y  Toy would have  made t h e  sale t o  J.  C .  

P e n m y  b u t  f o r  the a v a i l a b i l i t y  o f  lower-pr iced  imported b l o c k s .  A t  any 

s a t e ,  as t h e  owner of  a v a l i d  U. S .  p a t e n t ,  D o l l y  Toy i s  e n t i t l e d  t o  e x c l u d e  

o t h e r s  from making,  u s i n g ,  o r  s e l l i n g  i n f r i n g i n g  b l o c k s  i n  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s .  

A n o t h e r  example o f  a D o l l y  Toy c u s t o m e r  p u r c h a s i n g  i m p o r t e d  v i n y l -  

c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  i s  t h a t  o f  F r i e n d l y  Home P r o d u c t s ,  w h i c h  p u r c h a s e d  

[ 1 of b l o c k s  from Hong Kong between 1980 and 1983. (See S u l l i v a n  Conf. 

a f f i d a v i t  paragraph 1 2  and Hoffman a f f i d a v i t  . 
C o n f i d e n t i a l  E x h i b i t  4 shows t h a t  d o l l a r  sales,  u n i t  sales,  and p r o f i t s  

f o r  Dolly Toy's  v i n y l - c o v e r e d  foam b l o c k s  d e c l i n e d  e a c h  y e a r  frm 197901982 .  



It is found that importation of infringing vinyl-covered foam b l o c k s  

has had the effect of  substantially injuring the domestic industry. 

Continued importation of infringing blocks would have the tendency to 

injure substantially the domestic industry. Foreign manufacturers and 

exporters have demonstrated the ability to supply substantial quantities 

of the foam blocks to the U. S. market. The capital investment required to 

begin or to expand manufacturing is minimal. (Marcus affidavit paragraph 

17). The June 20, 1984, letter from respondent Candid Industries dmon- 

strates an intention to continue manufacturing and marketing the blocks in 

question through trading companies. 

8. Conclusion 

Complainant Dolly Toy i s  entitled to summary determination as a 

matter of law on the basis of the undisputed facts asserted in the plead- 

ings and affidavits on file. 

It is found that respondent Candid Industries, and others not named as 

parties to this investigation, have engaged in unfair acts violating 

Section 337 of the Tariff Act, as amended, in connection with the importa- 

tion into the United States and the sale of certain vinyl-covered foam 

blocks by reason of the infringement of the ‘786 patent, the effect and 

tendency of which is to injure substantially an efficiently and economic- 

ally operated industry in the United States. 
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Motion 178-6 is granted.ii The record, consisting of Motion 178-6 and 

a l l  papers filed in connection therewith, together with the pleadings and 

all requests filed in this matter, is certified to the Commission. 

L Janet. D. ! L ~ e / r  

Janet D. Saxon 
Administrative Law Judge 

Issued: July 26, 1984 

Pursuant to Section 210.53(h) of the Commission's Rules the initial 
determination shall become the determination of the Commission unless 
a party files a petition for review of the initial determination 
pursuant to Section 210.54, or the Commission pursuant to Section 
210.55 orders on its own motion a review of the initial determination 
or certain issues therein. For computation of time, see Section 
201.14. For computation of additional time after service by mail, see 
Sect ion 201.16 (d) . 
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3.S18.786 
BLOCK \I’ITH RESILXE3’T FO.t>I C3RE A\m 

PLAS7 LC COFTR 
JEh, Fk HoJtvojg. Tipp Cit?, Ohio. =signor to Tkc 

uoit) io! to.. irpp Go., Ohio. a corpcrauon of Ooio 
Filed Apr. 30, 1?6& Sc:. XO. 725,366 

Int CI. A6Jh 33/06 
US. Cl. 46-25 2 Claims 

ABSTRACT OF THE DISCLCSURE 
A child’s safety toy block constnrcted o f  resilient ar.d 

flexible mtterials so that the child will not be injured 
if he falls on or attempts to bite into the block. The 
blcck incluies 3 fiexibl; outer shcll of vinyl plastic having 
b e  configuration of a cube which surrounds B similkrly 
shaped cube of polyurethane open sell f m m  which always 
rcturns the configuration of the block to i t s  o:i;;inai shape. 

.BACKGROUND OF THE i N V E N r K X  
One cf the most popular toys lor young children is 

brrilding blocks mcde of wood and cobrfully painted with 
numbers, animzl pictmes et:. These bIocl.5 have aided 
the development of the child’s ability to utiiizc its han:is, PS 
n c l l  as the recognition of the mteriai Fainted on the 
block;. In zjdition, k e y  pernittell the child to play by 
himself and to bc occupied 5or substantial pxiads of 
time. 

Houcvcr, thex block3 often causcd injury to the child 
when he wauld fnll on the b1o;Ls cats -g painhl bruises 
and sometim:s L ~ ~ .  Moreove:, your,;, chi’drin, while 
they are twthing. frequently inwrt the Il’oih in the niwth 
and :r\;:myt IO chcw on thc w w l .  As a rcsul’, slivcrs and 
small pieces of wood were freqi ently E ..a:lc c.ed, as well 
as the paint chipped from thc blocks. ciedtind sickness of 
the child. A further disadvantage of thew blocls is that 
they 2:: rather heavy x) that w!en the child threw the 
b h k  ii could do substnnti:il dami..gc: when hitting a piece 
Of wooden furniture or acstbcr child or adult. 

SUMMARY OF THE 1 ” V h T O N  
kc‘cordingly, this inbentian provices 3 safety ‘oy block 

.tvhiclr will not normally crcate injuries when a child falls 
oii. chews, or throws it. TSl: b l o c k  ixludes an oi;tnr shell 
h-.ving a predetermined udigu:ation and cofistructeo 
fi..-n a rcl3rively thin. flsviiJe mnieriiil which CIE k 
printcd. ???e snell surrourds a core of  re;ilicnt fo:m hav- 
ing bn O u t e i  .hap substsntidly ideniial to :he predeter- 
mined configiration of the ou::r sbcil fw maintaining 
tbe configuraiion of the outer shell v;hile permitting the 
blccclr to be resilient. 

In the preferred emlmotimcnt. t:ic hiock is a cube, the 
ovtcr shell is camposcd cf P so’t vir.yl plastic an& the 
foam mate*id is pcdymtbime o F n  c:!l foam. L? orldi- 
tion, in the preferred cmkxliment. t’x outer shell is cub- 
stantially scaled co t h t  it is air tight a:id the air provides 
a poriitn of the rcsiliencc of the block. ?he blmk is also 
light weight, inerpensiie, frw fmm sharp edges, and 
c~lorfully printcd. 

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS 

rr. 

FIG. I is o p T p c t i k  view of a p:liraiily of sucked 

FIG. 2 is a larger p r q x c t i v e  virw of OII: of the blocks; 
FIG. ? is an exp.odcd view showing the various corn- 

blocks in a * a r & n c o  with thc invention; 

mnents of the block More assemblv: 

2 
c ?IC. 6 is a fra;mcntai>, vies  of 2 porrion of t’ct poly- 

,. 
.-IC. i ;s a p e r c x t i v e  view showing the  mnnnc: h 

u::thane own cel! fo-h: and 

u h k h  ~ 5 -  h k x k  dcfcrnis under prccsure. 
- 

ZiT,’bLEB D E X X i X i S h  GF TEE PiiEFExP&D 
ESIBODI!JEN;P 

FIGS. i and 2 illustrate the toy blacks 10 in acco:dancc 
uith the invention in form of cubes having the outer 
shell or cover 11 with four Fide w;Jls 12, 13, I4 and 15 

lo ana the to;, and b m o m  walls 16 and X7. Ea:h of the 
walls is colorfully prin!cd io that the biocks 10 are attrac- 
tive to c:,ildrcn and so they provide an educational pur- 
pose when the child begins to rccognize the letteen and 

R e  sbcll 11 e n  be cL;t from an endless strip of ma- 
trri;il hrving 3 width equal KO the height of the Mock so 
thnt th: four side rt%lls 12-25 Bre formed intepwlly and 
tire c x t e l r r e  end> 1s of the riri;? arc secured topc*er to 

40 form a shar: tubular %:tion (FIG. 3) .  Tne top and bot- 
tom walls 16 and I7 tar1 Iiktwise be cut from the strip 
and he secured to the :op edges 21 and the bottom edges 
22 of the block IO in a ~nvecticlnel manner. 

The outer sheli 11 is prefcr2b)y m;?de of a so:[ Bexible 
15 vinyi plastic which aiiows the Seams or %uses IS, 21 and 

22 to bc reded ctiei-x!rically t y  !ke use d >igh frequency 
currcnt. Ir! Rddiiica it is &iiz . l~L;  IO form a c r e c x  at 
each of the corners 23 of the 510r.k to facilitate formation 
and maintenance c,: the scy~are c0’r .m and edges on the 

30 blocks 10. hlorcovr,, iht micr he1i may be provided with 
t vent to pahikit burstio,r rhereof when a substantial 
foicc is r.ppli:d thcre.0. 

n e  inner cure 25 (FIGS. 3 and 4)  is likebi:: il cube 
having dimensions suklmtki!1]’ identical to tkx b.i?r 

35 dimeilsions of the w t e r  shell 11 SO that t h e  core always 
provides the resilience for reVJrninr lhe outer skiell to is 
original configitration. As shown in thc greatly cnlarced 
view of FIG. 6, the prefemd material is polyurcthue 
open ccll f o m  which ic campos6 of uniformly distrib- 

40 uted icterconnectbg s:r;mts 26 which form a tbree-di- 
mcnsiooal stnrcttire of cy cnirgc 0: pores, wi:hout a covcr- 
ing membrane or surface ci rbe type often found in foam 
rubbcr ms!criz!s Thc r m h n  arrangcment of the pori3 
e!irninat:s ~ t i 3 i g j t  c i - ~ m ~ l s  rhrowh this material so that 

45 ai: ilows reac‘ilg therethroJgh with n k h u r n  resistance. 
\’,’>,iIe the p r e s  are not precistly 14: same size, they are 
predominately within a range of simihr shes so ih3t *be 
air :\ow thereihroitcl. is rinilltam throrighnn?. 

n u s  when Ihc block 20 is properly formed, llu open 
trsvel of au from oiic por- 

tion of bt. block 10 a n & a  vithout any substantial re- 
striction as would =cur with conventional closed a l l  
foams. The blocl: 10 therefore acts as if i t  is filled Keith 
air with b e  f a m  nroviding litl!e resistance to deforma- 

cG tion. b.2~ providing the force for always returning the 
clock to its orisinn1 confi~~Wio1. 

The numerous safety fcamres make h e  block 10 cx. 
iepti3naljy piitcd for csc 38 a child. &cause the blo-k 
is liL&t in acigt.t, it can be a s i l y  lifted by the child, and 

O0 will do iittle or no dan*3gz ?r* furnltilrc or another child 

larger, e;g, 34 inL..i;ei on a Gdt, wfhercas ir w,mden block 
of h c  same sizt \\cruld I r  103 heavy fo: J ).oung cbild. 
Likewire, the ch’ld will n e  he injured if he f.ills on the 

c4 3)& and, in fa& the blocYwiI! C’SkiOP his l:.!!. kcirrtse 
of &e texiblu oukr shell 11, the child annat puncture 
tlia block or otherwisc k barnird by a l t e m w ; ~  to chew 
on tht block. Tbe use of day1 w1:r sbtll p t m i t s  each 

l5 the animal figures thercoc. 

GO cell foam core 25 permits 

if brow.  IjgL: weigh% i! s the block to k made 

- FiG. 4 is a reetiond view &kenpilong tk line 
FIG. 2: 

o f  70 of tbe walls 12-17 to k -tcd COnhUoUsly, e.& by a 
web press. if so desired tbtreby reducing the cost of 
mrroufnCWring. RG. 5 is an enlargement of OM corner of tbc block; 
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pile the block has b t t n  show as a cube. it is li, 'hin 

used fo: th: outer shell 11 c3r. 'hc varied without 
deponing from the scope of the iDVcfAiion u) long IS they 
provide a soft flexible exterior for tk: core ZS, which 
also may be formed of other foam mLtcriaIs PO lmg as 
the necesary reriknce is-provided to the h k k .  

Wnik h e  f o r a  oi apparatus leiein oescrikd con. 
rtitute a preferred ernhodirncnt or the invention, it 
he understood that the invention is nor limited to tb% 
preck form of apparatus. and that changer may k made 

Cnc\oring pal! a r e  therein a i d  Flock kina of a size 
%dpe cf the invention to use othc: configurs, h~ rendering i t  convcnitntly holdable. msntpolahic and 

throwabl: by a child of Ljlc s i x  norrr.allp a:taincd during 

;2. T h e  block of claim 1 in which said covering is 
f o h e d  in ihree pieces including a top piecc. a bottom 
pkce and a single ride pit= with said side piece joining 
said top and bottom picces at wid core perimeters and 
=id side piece k i n g  joined to iwSi adjacent one vcnirrl 
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